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THE RNZE CORPS MEMORIAL CHAPEL
Linton Camp

By

Howard (Clas) Chamberlain (Former WO1 RNZE)
Corps Historian and Curator RNZE Corps Memorial Museum

The RNZE Corps Memorial Chapel
“They received, each for his own memory, praise that would never die. And with it the grandest of all sepulchres, not that in which their mortal remains are laid, but a Home in the Minds of Men, where their glory remains forever fresh, to stir to speech or action as the occasion comes by.  For the whole earth is a sepulchre of famous men, and their glory is graven not only on stone over their native land, but lives on, far away, without visible symbol, woven into the stuff of men’s lives.” 

Pericles funeral oration to the Athenians 431 BC
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The Royal New Zealand Engineers Corps Memorial Association
The Royal New Zealand Engineers Corps Memorial Association became an incorporated society on 9 September 1966 with the aim of establishing a Corps Memorial at the School of Military Engineering, Linton Camp.  The vision of a Corps Memorial was firmly established to provide a centre wherein the spirit and unity of sappers of all ranks both serving and retired could be fostered and maintained.  

This was a vision of the ‘old and bold’ was likely to become a reality. Those responsible for keeping this project going were mainly WW2 NZE sapper officers who had made their mark in civil engineering projects after the war.  Lt Col Andrew Murray, OBE, was involved with the design and construction of the Auckland Harbour Bridge; Lt Col Gordon Lindell, DSO, ED,  designed the link span for the inter island ferries and Lt Col Russell Currie, DSO, OBE, a Regular Force Officer and former Director of Fortification and Works were heavily involved from the outset. These three sooner or later held the appointment of Colonel Commandant of the RNZE.  As time went on when they stood down or died, they were replaced by others who kept up the spirit of the endeavour and included Lt Col Dick Pemberton, MC and Bar, Lt Col Ken Christie, MBE, ED, and Lt Col George Butcher, MC, ED.  Major George Bunce, QSM, was also a stalwart of this committee.  All were assisted by the Corps Memorial Committee which over the years included many Regular Force officers and soldiers. Two of these who spent over 20 years on the committee were Major Joe Hollander (later Lt Col) and SSgt H.E. ‘Clas’ Chamberlain (later WO1). 
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Several plans for a Corps memorial were made and widely discussed by both serving and former members of the Corps.  Each plan included a chapel, and a museum cum library.  One plan went somewhat further and had in addition a social room and two lecture rooms which could have been used by SME as part of their training facility.  Other suggestions put forward for the RNZE Corps Memorial Centre included shifting and refurbishing a disused WW2 mess building which was countered by an opposing group who favoured an ‘A’ frame design of building.  Both these suggestions were turned down - but they did force the issue away from a ‘make do’ or second best concept.  The first part of the proposed RNZE Corps Memorial Centre commenced with the building of the chapel in Linton Camp. 

The Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers Memorial Church of St Martin’s
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In April 1972, Headquarters, Home Command, in Wellington advised the Corps Memorial Committee that a 74 year old church at Makotuku, near Norsewood, had been offered to Linton Camp as a Garrison Church. It was suggested that the RNZE Corps Memorial Association might be interested in assisting with the finance for the removal and re-erection of the church in Linton Camp.  The church was offered as a gift to be removed. It was then envisaged that the church would become the place of enshrinement of the Rolls of Honour of the Corps and would also form part of the RNZE Corps Memorial Complex.  

There was some objection by serving soldiers to having an old building brought on site rather than a memorial centre built from scratch.  However, the ambience of the building together with the reminder that there were memorial windows already in the chapel round the altar to men of Makotuku gave a link with the past which was felt would be of value to the Corps. These windows commemorated those who had fallen, those who served, and were also a thanks offering for peace.  It would still provide a fitting memorial home for those remembered by the folk of Makotuku. 

Early History of the Makotuku Church

Mrs Friberg, a Resident of Makotuku was the first to promote the spiritual needs of the local residents in the early 1880s.  She organised a deputation to the Bishop of Waiapu with some success and the Rev A.S. Webb began services in the dining room of Parson’s Mill, a local establishment. In 1885 there is a record of Bishop Stuart preaching at morning service in Makotuku.
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A fund raising bazaar organised by the Rev Webb at the Makotuku Hall was well supported and it is recorded that the residents gave generously.  Rev Webb’s daughter noted that the majority of the fund raising was “begged from the well to do”, while her father was on his itinerant journeys through the Diocese.  Tenders were called and Coles and Sons of Onga Onga began work on the original church in late 1888.  This building was destroyed by fire in January 1899.

After the fire, at a special vestry meeting, Mr John Hunt was asked to commence rebuilding immediately. Fund raising commenced  and donations were sought from the community. The start on rebuilding must have been very quick as the second church was dedicated on 5 February 1899 by the Very Rev W.L Williams, The Bishop of Waiapu.  The date of consecration is not known at the time this booklet was compiled.

In the Vestry Minutes of July 1899 following donations were recorded for the new church.

H. Williams and Sons

2 Hanging Lamps

H. Hopkins


2 Gateposts

Messers Neal and H. Newling 1 day’s work

A. Olsen


2 day’s work

E. Coles


1 Vestry table

The Workmen


1 Communion table and Bracket

J. Scholes


Fencing timber

When James Grimwood, the contractor, presented his account for £483/4/4d it caused some controversy as the parishioners were not happy with the workmanship and the amount was more than the quoted price.  Grimwood responded to these complaints stating that the Architect had ordered the material and the joinery was of a higher standard that quoted and none of the timber had been planed and his men had to do it all by hand.

Included in the records dating from 1890 are people named as Church wardens and vestrymen .  these included William Robinson, John Brabazon, John Schaare, A. Whitson, J. Hutt and a Mr Beckett.  John Brabazon was the first Sunday School teacher and Endmundson Webb was the first choirmaster.
  The first wedding recorded was between William Jacob Schaare and Helga Neilsen.  The Schaare family had a long association with this church and community which came to an end with the passing of Mr Reuben Schaare in 1982.
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This church had a central place in the life of the farming community at Makotuku and at the end of the Great War three stained glass windows were installed in the sanctuary behind the altar.  These windows remain in the church as it is today. If you look closely you will see the text at the foot of each window, one a memorial to those from the community who fell in the war and the other a thank offering for the safe return of those who came home and rejoined the farming activities in the district. These windows were dedicated by Archdeacon Simkin in 1923.
As happens in many places falling populations, easier access by car meant that this church was becoming less used.  The last carol service was held in 1967 at which time 125 parishioners filled the church.  The last service was conducted by the Rev Willink at 9 am on 4th August 1968.  From that time the church remained unused except for the occasional visit by former parishioners.  It was only four years later that the church was offered to Linton Camp as a Garrison Chapel.
New Life for the Church
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By 30 November 1972 the foundations for the church were being worked upon in Linton with Cpl Colin Oliver, LCpl Porter, Spr Kingi and Spr Rose of 2 Field Squadron providing the work force.  The church was dismantled and transported in parts to Linton with each part marked so that re-erection would cause as little problem as possible. It was noted that wood worm had created considerable damage and over the years some of the fabric had become somewhat the worse for wear. 
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Sgt Murray Holt was appointed task foreman and was responsible for rebuilding which included the replacement of all damaged or degraded timbers.  His brief was to restore the building to as much as possible an original state but the match lining of the interior was to be replaced by rimu faced plywood.  There were some very tricky challenges to overcome.  Memory, now dim of the events at the time, recalls that one of the round timbers supporting the arch over the altar could not be made by RNZE tradesmen and outside assistance was sought this replacement piece had to be manufactured by a company in Palmerston North before it could be replaced. 

Preparatory work and replacement of damaged timber took considerable time and skills of the sappers working on the re-construction were often tested as fixing, placement and other work had to be conducted so that the finished job would be a worthy memorial for the Corps. SSgt Newho Powhare and Spr Tareaha were pictured in January 1973 when the roof sections were brought onto site for the necessary preparatory work and refurbishment before they would be ready to be lifted into place. 

By April 1973 activity on site was progressing and framework was being erected.  Off site, tradesmen at 2 Field Squadron refurbished joinery or replaced old material entirely. The team working on the reconstruction was never large as military tasks had to come first.  Exercises in the summer months, courses and leave all took their toll on the speed with which the building progressed.  
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Account had also to be taken of those items which had to be included to make the building “the Corps Chapel”.  The chief of these being the manufacture of the cabinet to hold the Rolls of Honour and moving of the altar from the former chapel in Linton (which was once a room at the end of the YMCA building, now part of the Nepia Lounge).

However by July 1974 all was ready.  All evidence of the work site buildings and store sheds had been removed.  The chapel painting was finished, the grounds laid out, concrete paths had been laid and lawns sown and the grass had grown.  The bell tower, with the bell  which 5 Specialist Team had found in Thailand and brought back to New Zealand was placed near the entrance to the chapel. Bronze plaques had been made for the opening and put in place just a day or so before the opening. 

News media were contacted and advertisements were placed in the Reveille, the RSA Review, The Manawatu Evening Standard and the Wellington Evening Post to let as many ex-sappers as possible know that the Corps Memorial Chapel of St Martins would be formally opened in the afternoon of the 20th July.  TVNZ was contacted and Radio New Zealand was asked if the opening service could be mentioned on the religious programme. 
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On the 20th July 1974 a parade of the Sapper units in Linton (2 Field Squadron, 5 Support Squadron and the School of Military Engineering) was held.  The parade was formed up on the road to the north west of the chapel so that the centre of the parade was at the end of the path leading to the entrance of the chapel.  The first of two commemorative plaques was unveiled outside in view of all present.  

This part completed, invited guests and members of the Engineer Corps Memorial Association moved inside the chapel which was soon filled.  A far greater number had to remain outside during the formal dedication which was relayed by loudspeaker. During the service inside a commemorative plaque above the RNZE Rolls of Honour was unveiled by Lt Col Ken Rutherford and Lt Col Lindell.  Music for the parade and the service was provided by the Palmerston North Salvation Army Band as no military band was available for the opening ceremony.
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A lack of respect for the Church was discovered when several panels of the lead lined stained glass windows of the chapel were destroyed by boys from the housing area who had fired slug gun pellets at the windows.  It was not known who these vandals were but it required hardened glass to be fitted to the outside of the windows to prevent further damage, and the window segments had to be replaced.  Lighter coloured replacement glass show where these damaged segments were.

Repository of the RNZE Rolls of Honour 

Two of the most important functions sought for this chapel were a place recognised as a site for worship and a home for the New Zealand Engineers and Royal New Zealand Engineers Rolls of Honour.  The Rolls of Honour of  New Zealand Sappers killed in action during both World Wars are held in a special cabinet in the chapel.  The cabinet holds one of the two original hand worked Great War Rolls of Honour.  The other such original is in the Kitchiner Chapel in St Paul’s Cathedral in London where the sole original copy of the WW2 Roll of Honour is held.  RNZE only has colour photos of the WW2 Roll of Honour.  
During WO2 Chamberlain’s term at SME and again when he was later posted back to SME a page of the roll was turned each day so that those who entered the chapel could see the names of those sappers who had given their lives for our country.  It is not known whether this daily routine has been continued. White cotton gloves are provided in the cupboard under the rolls so that the pages are not affected by body oils and other possible contaminates on the hands of those turning pages.  

Other Memorials
[image: image14.jpg]SafrLonirenson MO

free

qh BWA
Morris B

Debanham G A

Beckall SE

Bal

wntyne S .

Butherlond AF

Malacuin F
Wright K W

Cendclifie J

Spr. Ashton M.J
M-Causland V.L
Jewell J.A
Nicholls L. H. (K
Saddier CA
Merry FJ
Quinn F.
Poulton G
Dean WH
Eaton H.C
Blackburn AR
Lone T H
Horwell CF
Symister HC
Lee F.W.
Spooner K
Purchas HDW.
Daltons.P
O'Neil GW
Moroon RA
AndersonCR. (W9
Wood A
Bresnohon £
Grahom H.D
Read C

Cariyle TR
Bosley AR

- Highet HA
Kiddey F.

o Minifie R.G

(K

[

A"

ISCOUNT. KG..K.P.CCB

LLol Baan W.S Samoan.F Sbr Crawley.J A
Lieut O akey AN ross Brawn. W
Manson.D.
M.T.

LE

Lieut Fisher H
Carp BrunsdentC
SprTurner W
MGimps ey.R
Lloyd HWF
Line TW
Lane.SF
Pollard.F.A. Killed Robinsan. HW.
Quinton.F.H. | Sullivan. W.0
Ried. LA, Thompson.R.M
Withell ECD GoodfellowJ E
Morton J
Henderson AR
RichardsonRC.
Key. H.P. |
Cox H [Corp Salveson ET.
| lles. HS

Reese
Adams
Boker E.F.I

Brewnlee.RH
Cha P

Camer

Mohoney.J.

Glassan. JM.
RicKaTlts.C.K.
Prebble EW.H

Killed

Lummis.PA IVINES
Smith.C.H

Rodley. E.V.

|Lieut Corkill |
‘!chi Olliver | (Reserve)
Saville.G.H {Leorp Calverr. RAW.
Hardy. AJ {
RabinsonHEH |
Clemens.EA

Honno.F.R

Henderson H.O.

Mos)ey c.C

Boker. L.

Kerricge TF

tunpt E
Moson DES

ispr Clark.

Willis. 1.5
Whitla. W.
Barter. LY
0Connor. B
Hardy ELG

Killeol

Killeo
Snowden.R

Rollinsan £

Taylor HAS

Sheppard CM

Edware
Haynes
Hill. W.CR
Howell. AHE
Joahnstone H.H.
Meachem.E,P.
Meachem.C.E
Newmon WW
Osbourne G
Cayqill. G.D.
Tale E
Jame
Grace,CH;
Nier. L
Rowley L.J
Harrison. NR
Key. H.P.
Wrighl. LA
Evans. RD
Paterson, J.E
Sheppard fML.
Peacock. R W.
Greenlees
fransden. C.R
Clark.F.D.
Serg! Jebson W.
Spr. Greatbateh.C.T.
Preston..).H
OMS Niven J
Corp AlexanderWA.
Spr foster. C.R

Corb Gough EC

|
|
|

sk punlep G A

Batf

RW

Peppler W
Britt HW
Backetl HE

In Camp

Armistice

Cor Peters A H
Sherwin SD

Spr Lewis PF
Lawrence GL

Shave N
Rogers £
Foster F

A

G

Merrett D.S

Cooper F.
New berr

y R

Hunt D B.

Killed

Kb

Killeal

(Samoa)

Seral J.L Davis 198

Spr Goodwin F.G, W<
Soman RR
Johnason A
Burqess CW
Barker TA
MuschoampHS
Hedloler RN
Stapp VLG
Claphaim AV
Pritchard AC
Percival £F
Smith R.L
West A
M Causland WJ

. Payne F.G
Evans DT
Cater €
Round R
Aitken P
Scoth A,
MeDowell H
Rolla JE
MEWhonnell A,
Hawke L
oMalloran €.
Hill JAN

Serq Carath C

Corp. George A.

Sery Butters Kl

Bell L.A
Acaor CWA
Corpt Petrie CE
Sap’ Henwood C.J
Drayton LH
Hollabon A
Agassiy FG
Ho\rdy W,

. Brice HE.

Brochanon F
Jomes . C





Within the chapel there are a number of other memorials to fallen soldiers and in some cases those who have served and returned.  These include a roll of No 1 Company NZ Engineers, and members of No 8 Company, Post and Telegraph Engineers, Wellington, on Active Service during the Great War. A listing of Makotuku soldiers under the heading of “Pro Patria”, signed by J.E. Patrick and dated 13 December 1920 is also in a frame  mounted on a wall. 
There are memorial plaques on the ends of the pews to Sappers who have died more recently in such places as Thailand (Sgt Gordon Shawcroft and Cpl H.J. Hapeta), Malaya (Spr Wai Toni, drowned on exercise), Vietnam (Spr Jerry Barrett - Killed In Action by mine explosion, Phouc Tuy Province, South Vietnam. and Spr Rap Brown also Killed In Action by mine explosion, Phouc Tuy Province, South Vietnam., Papua New Guinea (A most unusual occurrence was when Sgt Joe Campbell was killed in an explosion on a quarry site in Papua / New Guinea) the Solomon Islands (Sgt Wally Morgan killed by an un-licensed Solomon Islands driver in an un-roadworthy vehicle in the Solomon Islands)  and several of those who died while serving in New Zealand. 
One such death occurred when a bailey bridge was being built over the ‘dry gap’ at SME bridging wing while others have lost their lives through road accidents, and illness.  Major Jack Broadbent is also remembered when he died of an heart attack while on leave in Tonga.
The Altar
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The altar in the RNZE Corps Memorial Chapel was the handwork of Rev H.E. Rowe, E.D, Chaplain to the Forces, a former padre in Linton Camp during the period 1959-60.  The timber of the front panels of the altar is Kauri; the carved lettering is Matai and the remainder is Oak. 
It is understood that it was worked in Oak and Kauri to represent the old world of Europe, in particular Britain, and the new world of New Zealand.  The words “DO THIS IN REMEMBRANCE OF ME” come from the Last Supper and the celebration of the Eucharist.  The carved letters of the Greek alphabet, Alpha  and Omega  represent the first and the last.  The badge in the centre is the badge of the Royal New Zealand Chaplains Department and states “IN THIS SIGN CONQUER” 

Royal Engineers Window in the Chapel.
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The circular window above the altar in the RNZE Chapel was provided through the generosity of the Royal Engineers and is the badge of the ROYAL ENGINEERS. This is another symbol of the strong links forged between the Royal Engineers and the Royal New Zealand Engineers. 

The window was designed by Shona McFarlane, an artist, writer and former TV panelist who was at the time living in Dunedin.  The window was manufactured by the stained glass window specialists of Miller Studios in Dunedin.  The aluminium surround was manufactured by Hughes and Trask in Palmerston North and the final joinery was completed by Cpl Kirton who was a Trade Training Instructor at the School of Military Engineering.  Plumbers, both staff and apprentices from the School of Military Engineering, fitted the window into the roof of the chapel. 

The first public viewing of the window was on the occasion of the Annual General Meeting of the Engineer Corps Memorial Association on 18 July 1985. The window was dedicated at a special service in the chapel on 15 October 1985.  

Although not known initially, it was later noted that Shona’s father, 4/969 Sapper A McFarlane, was wounded in action in France and Flanders during WW1 on 5 October 1917.  Some of the memorabilia that he brought back from the war has been deposited in the Queen Elizabeth the Second Army Memorial Museum at Waiouru.
The Royal Australian Engineers Prayer Desk

A short time after the chapel was dedicated the Royal Australian Engineers asked RNZE what would be an appropriate gift for the Corps Chapel.  The Padre at the time made a suggestion that a prayer desk would be a most welcome addition to the facilities in the chapel.  It was fascinating to learn that so few people were aware of what a prayer desk was.  Rough drawings were made together with the suggestion that the RAE visit a cathedral and copy the proportions and style.  
The prayer desk was made of Australian timbers by 22 Construction Company, RAE and presented by Col J.A. Crocker, RAE, on behalf of the Royal Australian Engineers in December 1983.  When completed the Prayer Desk travelled from Australia by RNZAF Hercules to Whenuapai where it was placed in storage.  
There appeared to be a problem with some people being unable to read what was stencilled on the wooden container in which it travelled.  Clearly marked on the crate was Prayer Desk, RNZE, SME, Linton Camp. Why would the School of Military Engineering want a prayer desk? Something must be wrong with the address!  Some two months after it was sent the Chief Engineer RAE inquired of the Chief Engineer RNZE if we had received the Prayer Desk which was the first intimation that it had even arrived in New Zealand.  Hurried phone calls by WO2 Chamberlain tracked down the said item and within a few days it was delivered to Linton and installed in the Chapel to the satisfaction and delight of the chaplain.
Other Gifts

The font came with the chapel from Makotuku. It was part of the original fit out for the church  Carved into the stone is an acknowledgement to Rev J.T. Wills.  At the time of reconstruction the humorous comment by the sappers was that the Rev Wills must have been the father of  WO1 Ray Wills, 2 Field Squadron - but of course he was not.  

The two flower stands, dated 1975, were gifted to the Corps Chapel by former members of the Regular Force Cadet School who attended a Reunion in Linton.   

The hymn board, close to the Rolls of Honour cabinet, is used for displaying the number of the hymns to be used during a service was gifted by WO1 and Mrs Ernie Reid.  Ernie Reid served with the Long Range Desert Group during WW2 and was for a long time to WO Admin at Linton Camp Hospital.  Mrs Reid was for many years the Postmistress at Linton Camp.  On leaving the Army they resided in Palmerston North where Ernie was groundsman for one of the Golf courses.

Events
The first marriage celebrated in the Corps Memorial Chapel was that of WO2 Mat Munro an instructor at the School of Military Engineering.   The first baptism and the first funeral were also thought to be sapper family members but the Padres register will confirm that detail.

The Bell
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At the approach to the chapel is a bell mounted in a small housing that some term as the ‘Corps wishing well’. This bell was found in North East Thailand by members of 5 Specialist Team, RNZE who were involved with the Feeder Road Project.  It was brought back to NZ when the team completed their task. This project was to build a road from Borabu to Buri Ram to open up the country for the local people to be able to bring their produce to markets. The bell, which has the text “COR JESU PAX NOSTRA” (Heart of Jesus be our Peace) was made by E.L. Ottolina, Serengo, Italy in 1920.  It is thought that the bell may have been taken to Thailand by Catholic priests to be used in a Chapel which would become, or was part of, a mission station.

Many unit and family occasions have been celebrated at the RNZE Corps Memorial Chapel which is a place for worship and quiet reflection.  The chapel has become part of the heritage of Linton Camp.

The Railway Engineers Window
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This memorial was dedicated on 15 October 2006. It is the newest memorial in the Chapel and commemorates the service and sacrifice made by those men who served in the Railway Operating and Railway Construction Companies in the Middle East Theatre between 1940 and 43 during World War Two.  The Railway Companies were not part of the NZ Division as its function was more strategic than tactical.

The work that these men did was critical to the situation in North Africa for they provided a means of getting men, water, food, and war materials to the front and casualties back to hospitals and repair facilities.  One reference states that there were six trains a day; one water train, one ambulance train, one troop train, 
It is interesting to note the distances achieved by the NZE Railway Engineers laying down new tracks.  In one ten day period they completed 12.18 miles of track not including sidings and three days there was no track laying because of a lack of materials.  The History of the NZ Engineers shows some very fine photographs of these works and the assistance given by some Indian sappers. However the fuller story is told in Brendon Judd’s book “The Desert Railway”.
All photographs for this booklet, with the exception of that showing the dismantling of the church in preparation for transporting to Linton, were taken by H.E. Chamberlain between 1972 and 2008.
Hat Badge NZE 1907-1947





Names of those commemorated in the window.


LCpl L.M. Lowen, Privates P.L. Johnstone, E.  Griffin, J. Sabin, J. Jardin, T.J. Ness, T. Berrett





St Martin’s Memorial Church.


This church, built in 1899 as St Saviour’s Makotuku, was given by that parish to be the RNZE Memorial and the Linton Military Camp Church. Re-built by engineers of 2 Field Squadron, Royal New Zealand Engineers. Opened by Lt Col G.A. Lindell, DSO, ED and dedicated to the Honour and Glory of God on Saturday 20 July 1974.





Detail from the Railway Engineers Window





Dismantling the church at Makotuku in preparation  for transporting to Linton








� This information was provided to Major Mike Petterson by residents of Makotuku 1999.
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